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MEi%ﬁ U.S. DIS CT JUDGE

Before the Court is a motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), filed by
Defendant Wendover, Inc. (“Defendant” or “Wendover”) (I2b), alleging that Count | of
Plaintiff Forestieri’s (“Plaintiff” or “Forestieri”\SecondAmended Complaint'Second Amended
Complaint”) (D.l. 22) fails to state a claimnder theAmericans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),

42 U.S.C.8 1210%t. sequpon which relief can be granteBlaintiff opposes the motion. For the
reasons set forth below, Defendant’s motion to dismisS#mendAmended Complainwill be
GRANTED.

l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff filed her original Complaint on Augu8t 2018. (D.l. 1). On September 20, 2018,
Defendantnoved to dismiss that ComplaifD.l. 7). In lieu ofrespondingo the motion, Plaintiff
filed an Amended Complaint on October 10, 201®.1. 9). The Amended Complaint assett
violations ofthe ADA (Count 1) the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, (“ADEA"),
29U.S.C. 862%et seq(Count Il), and the Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), 29 U.S.C.
2601,et seq (Count Ill) (Id. § 2). Defendant moved to dismiss the Amended Comp(&irit 10),
and the Court granted that motion with respect to Counts | and Il, but denied it as to Count IlI
(D.I. 18, 19. On October 10, 2018, Plaintiff filed her Second Amended Complaint, again asserting
violations of the ADA (Count I), the ADEA (Count Il), and the FMLA (Count [I(D.I. 22).
Defendant now moves to dismiss Count | of the Second Amended Conip(&irit.25).

Forestierj a sixty-nineyearold individual was employed by Defendant from 1999 until

Octoberof 2016 (D.l. 229 9). TheSecondAmended Complaint alleges that throughout her

! Defendant does not challenge the sufficiency of Plaintiff's Second Am&ataglaint as
to Counts Il (ADEA) and Ill (FMLA).



employment with Defendant, she “held the position of General Manager and at all times
maintained a satisfactory job performance ratindd. { 10). Plaintiff alleges that on May 24,
2016, she fell aher home and suffered a wrist facture, wHegthto difficulties “lifting, grasping,
performing manual tasks, and musculoskeletal function[indgl’f(11). Plaintiff alleges that she
contacted her supervisor, Frank Germann (“Germatin”)nquire about disability leaV@ndto
inform him that “she would not be able to work for the next three (3) to four (4) mbdntics
113). She alleges that Germann instructed her “to take the time off to allow heranjuoperly
heal.” (Id.) Plaintiff further allegesthat during her leave shemainedin contact with her
supervisor and “at all times expressed her intent to return to work as soanwaassimedically
cleared to do so.”Id. 1 16. On Sptember 2, 2016, Plaintiff informed Germann that she would
be able to return to work around September 26, 206y (7). Plaintiff alleges that she asked
for the additional time beyond her FMLA leave as an accommodation “so that she would be able
to fulfill the essential functions of her job upon her return to work at the end lefae® (1d.).
On September 21, 2016, Plaintiff was approved by her doctor to return to work on September 26,
2016without restriction (Id. 18). Plaintiff returned to work on September 26, 20016. § 19.

The SecondAmended Complaint allegesathupon returning to work, Plaintifinet with
“Rob Beaver (“Beaver”), Vic®resident, and Gerald Hoffner (“Hoffner”), Regional Diregtat
which timeshe wasnformed thatshe wuld be demoted to the role afsasstanimanager anthat
her salarywould decrease from $65,000 to $35,000d. { 20). Plaintiff alleges that Beaver
explained the change was because Plaintiff “had been out for a while and [he was] cahe¢rned
[she] will not be able to perform the job because wiBsajef came bak to Wendy’s [he] had a
hard time and [she] was older than [him]Id.}. Plaintiff further allegeshat Beavestated that

“we weren't even sure yo[Plaintiff] were coming back because there was no communication



from you.” (d. 122). Plaintiff allegs that Beaver told her that she would be replaced by Anthony
Kemsky (“Kemsky”) — an Assistant Manager, whavas “a similarly-situated, non-disabled
individual, approximately thirty years younger than Plaintiff Forestieandthat $1e would be
transferre tothe University Plaz&aVendy’s location. I¢l. 1120-21).

The SecondAmended Complainallegesthat Plaintiff reported tdhe University Plaza
Wendy’s location on October 3, 2016 and “expressed concern to Beaver that she had not been
formally trained to use the newly renovated facility.Id.(f 23). Plaintiff alleges that Beaver
“voiced apprehension that Plaintiff Forestieri would not be able to coenpletk related tasks
because of her age.Id(). Plaintiff further alleges that, on Octb6, 2016, Beaver and Hoffner
called Plaintiff into a meeting arajain“expressed concern that Plaintiff Forestieri would not be
able to do her job because of her age and her time off related to her disaldityf. 24).

The SecondAmended Complaincontends that “Forestieri believes and therefore avers
that the Defendant demoted Plaintiff Forestieri on the basis of her age (69ytuadraad/or
perceived disability ardr record of impairment (Wrist Fracture, Nerve Damagad/or in
retaliationfor Plaintiff Forestieri’s requests for reasonable accommodatiotts.Y 25). Plaintiff
alleges she was unlawfully terminated on October 5, 20161 0).

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

When presented with a motion to dismiss for failure to state a gbaireuant to
Rule 12(b)(6) district courts conduct a twgart analysis.Fowler v. UPMC Shadysid&78 F.3d
203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009). First, the Court separates the factual and legal elements of a claim
accepting “all of the complaint's wellleaded fadt as true, but [disregarding] any legal

conclusions.” Id. at 21011. Second, the Court determines “whether the facts alleged in the



complaint are sufficient to show . . . a ‘plausible claim for reliefd” at 211 (quotingAshcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009)).

“T o survive a motion to dismiss, a civil plaintiff must allege facts that ‘raise a righietio re
above the speculative level on the assumption that the allegations in the comelaunt éeven
if doubtful in fact).” Victaulic Co.v. Tieman499 F.3d 227, 234 (3d CR007) (quotingell Atl.
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)Pismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate if a
complaint does not contain “sufficient factual matter, accepted as tristatio a claim to relief
that is plausible on its face.Tgbal, 556 U.Sat 678 (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570%ee also
Fowler, 578 F.3dat 210 A claim is facially plausible “when the plaintiff pleads factual content
that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendeoleifoli the misconduct
alleged.” Igbal, 556 U.Sat678. The Court is not diglated to accept as true “bald assertioms”
“unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferehcédorse v. Lower Merion Sch. Dist.
132F.3d 902, 906 (3&ir. 1997);Schuylkill Energy Res., Inc. v. Pennsylvania Power & Light Co.
113 F.3d 405, 417 (3diC 1997) Instead,[tlhe complaint must state enough facts to raise a
reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of [each] necessanteleima
plaintiff’s claim. Wilkerson v. New Media Tech. Charter Sch. ,Ife22 F.3d 315, 321
(3d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

II. DISCUSSION

A. Count 1: ADA — Actual and/or Perceived Disability and/or Record of
Impairment Discrimination, Retaliation

“[T] o establish a prima facie case of discrimination under the ADA, the plaintiff mus
show: (1) he is a disabled person within the meaning of the ADA,; (2) he is otherwiseedutali
perform the essential functions of the job, with or without reasonable accommodatitims

employer; and (3) he has suffered an otherwise adverse employment decision as a result of



discrimination.” Taylor v. Phoenixville Sch. Dist184 F.3d 296, 306 (3d Cir. 199@uoting
Gaulv. Lucent Technologied34 F.3d 576, 580 (3d Ci1998). Here, Plaintiff alleges that
Defendants violated the ADA by “subjecting Plaintiff Forestieri to unlawfulroiisnation on the
basis of her actual and/or perceived and/or record of impairment (WaistFe, Nerve Damagé),
failing to accommodate Plaintiff Forestieri, failing to engage in the interactiveegsowith
Plaintiff Forestieri, and retaliating against Plaintiff Forestieri for retjugsa reasonable
accommodation.” (D.R221 27)

1. Disability

Under the ADA, “[a]'disability is defined as:(A) a physical or mental impairment that
substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of [an] individual; (Brarteof such
impairment; or (C) being regarded as having such an impairfehaylor, 184 F.3dat 305-06
(citing 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2) Here,Plaintiff has notllegedfacts necessary to state a plausible
claimunder any of these formulations.

In the SecondAmended Complaint Plaintiff alleges “[flor the period of recovery
subsequent to haurgery, Plaintiff Forestieri’'s majdife activities were further impaired in that
her abilities to care for herself, work, sleep, andrierological function (due to nerve damage
caused by the surgery) were further impalréd.l. 22 §14). This conclusory allegation amounts

to a“‘temporary norchronic impairment of short duratirwhich is * not a disability covered

by the [Acts]” 2 Macfarlan v. vy Hill SNF, LLC675 F.3d 266, 274 (3d Cir. 201@uoting

2 Multiple times Plaintiff refers to her impairment with the parenthetical “wrist facheree
damage,” but there are no allegai@r facts describing any purported nerve damage.

3 The Court agrees with Plaintiff th®EOC regulations provide that impairments lasting
fewer than six months may be substantially limiting. 29 C.F.R. 8 1630.2(j)(1)(nderJ
those regulationshowever,the duration of an impairment & factor to consider in
determining whether an impairment substantially limits a major life actiditgre, the
Court considered the short duration as just one factor. In addition, the Court considered



Rinehimer v. Cemcolift, Inc292 F.3d 33, 380(3d Cir.2002). Here, Plaintiff alleges that she
injured her wriston May24, 2016 andwas approved by her doctor to return to work full time
with norestrictionson September 26, 2016.” (D22 19 11, 18) (emphas&ided). She does not
allege that her wrist injury caused physical impairment after she wasdchlsaher doctor, or that

it was a longterm or chronic injury. Thus, Plaintiffismpairment, which concluded when her own
doctor cleared Plaintiff to return to workitivout restriction, isnot aphysical impairment under
the ADA.

Moreover,“Congress included ‘record of' disability claims in the ADA to ensure that
employees could not be subjected to discrimination because of a recorded history atydisabil
Eshelmarv. Agere Sys., Inc554 F.3d 426, 4387 (3d Cir.2009). “A plaintiff attempting to
prove the existence of a ‘record’ of disability still must demonstrate thatdbedezl impairment
is a ‘disability’ within the meaning of the ADA.Tice v. Ctr. Area Transp. Auti?47 F.3d 506,
513 (3d Cir2001). In Eshelma, the Third Circuit statedif the record at issue does not reference
a disability or condition covered by the ADAégfendanitis not liable even if it did rely on that
record in making the adverse employment decisidsb? F.3d at 437 Here, where Rintiff's
temporarywrist injury is not a disabilityunderthe ADA, she cannot state a record of impairment
claim upon which relief may be granted.

Finally, the SecondAmended Complaint does netfficiently allegethat Plaintiff was
regarded by Defendant as disabledn ‘individual meets thisregarded dsrequirement if he or
she establishes that he or she has been subject to an action the ADA ptwgthiise of an actual

or perceived physical or mental impairment whether or not the impatilmets or is perceived

that Plaintiff wasapproved to return to work full time without restriction aaldo
consideredPlaintiff's conclusoryallegations regarding the impact of her wrist injury on
hermajor life activities.



to limit a major life activity.” Budhun v. Reading Hosp. & Med. C{r65 F.3d 245, 259 (3d Cir.
2014) (quotingd2 U.S.C.8 12102(3)(A). “The statute curtails an individuslability to state a
‘regarded dsclaim if the impairment istransitory and minor,which means it has dmactual or
expected duration of six months or |&sdd. (citing 8 12102(3)(B). While a Defendant may not
ordinarily raise an affirmative defensdike transitory and minor impairmeht at the motion to
dismiss stagesuch a defense may be considered “if the defense is apparent on the face of the
complaint.” Id. (citing Ball v. Famigliq 726 F.3d 448, 459 n.16 (3d C2013). Here, as discussed
above, theSecondAmended Complaintllegesthat Plaintiff's impairmentsvere short term,
lastingfour monthsbefore shavas medically cleared to return to work without restrictions. Based
on the time to recover and the nature of her injury, this impairment was objectiveitptyaasd
minor. Seeid. (referringto an approximatelytwo monthlong recovery from a broken hamdg
“objectively transitory and minor”). Th8econdAmended Complaint, moreover, includes no
plausible allegations that Defendant treated Plaintiff's vimjsry as anything more than a minor
and transitory injury that would keep her from work féew months. $eeD.l. 229 13 (“Plaintiff
Forestieri informed Germann that, per her doctor’s orders, she would not be &bl for the

next three (3) to four (4) months. Germann instructed Plaintiff Forestitakéothe time off to

4 29 C.F.R. 8 1630.15(f{stating under defenses those lqahs baed on transitory and
minor impairments under theegarded dsprong. It may be a defense to a charge of
discrimination by an individual claiming coverage under ‘tlegarded dsprong of the
definition of disability that the impairment is (in the case of an actual impairmentudd wo
be (in the case of a perceived impairmémgnsitory and minor.To establish this defense,

a covered entity must demonstrate that the impairment is‘tratisitory and ‘minor.’
Whether the impairment at issue is orulkbbe*transitory and minoris to be determined
objectively. A covered entity may not defeategarded dscoverage of an individual
simply by demonstrating that it subjectively believed the impairment was transitory and
minor; rather, the covered emtitnust demonstrate that the impairment is (in the case of an
actual impairment) or would be (in the case of a perceived impairment) bothomaasid
minor. For purposes of this sectidransitory is defined as lasting or expected to last six
monthsor less’).



allow her injury to properly heal.”))Because Plaintiff has not sufficiently pleaded facts to show
she is disabled under any formulation of the definition inABD&\, she has failed to state a
plausible claim for relief thereunder.

2. Acconmmodation

To the extent that Plaintifflleges that Defendant failed to accommodate her disability, she
has agairfailed to state a claimAn employer commits unlawful discriminationmder the ADA
if the employer does “not mak[e] reasonable accommodations to the known physical a@r ment
limitations of an otherwise qualified individual with a disability who is an applicaetnployee,
unless [the employer] can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship
on the operation of the business of [the employed2’ U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A)A failure to
accommodate claim requires a plaintdfshow “(1) he is a disabled person within the meaning
of the ADA; (2) he is otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of theviibor
without reasonable accommodations by the employer; and (3) he has suffered an otbeensse a
employment decision as a result of discriminatian’ [which] in this context inclde[s] refusing
to make reasonable accommodations for a pldistifisabilities.”Hohider v. United Parcel Serv.,
Inc., 574 F.3d 169, 1887 (3d Cir. 2009]quotingWilliams v. Phila. Housing Auth. Police Dep
380 F.3d 751, 761 (3d Ci2004). Here,Plaintiff cannot state a failure to accommodate claims
because, as discussed above, Plaintiff has failed to make a plausible shaivaing tis a disalide
person within the meaning of the ADA. Even acceptarguendo however,that Plaintiff is
disabledunder one of the three categories expounded above, she has failed to make a showing that
Defendant refused to make a reasonable accommodation.

First, Plaintiff has not plausibly alleged that Defendant refused to accommodate her wrist

injury. The Third Circuit has made clear thatiadividual must put a covered employer on notice



of a request for an accommodation, stating “while the notice [of a desire émcammodation]
does not have to be in writing, be made by the employee, or formally invoke the magic words
‘reasonable accommodation,’ the notice nonetheless must make clear that thgeeem@ats
assistance for his or her disabilitydones v. United Parcel Ser214 F.3d 402, 408 (3d Cir. 2000)
(quotingTaylor, 184 F.3cat 313). Plantiff's sole allegation regarding accommodation states, in
its entirety, that “[flor the period of time that Plaintiff required additional leay®bd her FMLA
leave, she requested the same as a reasonable accommodation for her dilabiliify requested
said accommodation (leave of absence), so that she would be able to fulfill theakksasttons
of her job upon her return to work at the end of the |8a(@.1. 9 § 17) Plaintiff's conclusory
assertion is insufficient to state a plausiblairol that she made clear to the Defendant that she
required asistance foany disability or thatDefendant then refused to grant that requdstus,
Plaintiff cannot maintain a claim under the ADA for failure to accommotate.

Plaintiff also cannot clan failure toaccommoda pursuant to dregarded as” definition
of disability. The2008 Amendment® the ADAadded a provision which provides tleaployers
“need not provide a reasonable accommodation . . . to an individual who meets the definition of
disability in[Section 12102(1C): “regarded as having an impairnigrit 42 U.S.C. § 12201}h
see alsoRobinson v. First State Cmtgction Agency--- F.3d --, 2019 WL 1431924, at *3
(3d Cir. Apr. 1, 2019)“an individual who demonstrates that sheegarded dgisabled, but who
fails to demonstrate that she is actually disabled, is not entitled to a reasonabienadatiory) .

Thus, b the extent that Plaintiffllegesa failure to accommodatieased on dregarded as”

Similarly, Plaintiff's allegations that Defendant failed to engage in an intergotboess
for a reasonable accommodation and retaliated against Plaintiff for regueestiasonable
accommodation both being premised on a requestriEssonable accommodatieralso
fail.



definition of disability, her claim is phibited anddoes nostate a claim upon which relief may
be granted

For the above reasons, Defendant’s motion to dismiss Count | of the Amended Complaint
will be granted.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonBefendant’'smotion to dismiss (D.125) is GRANTED. An

appropriate order will follow.
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